## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES VARDAMAN

FILED

APPELLANT

VERSUS

HEB - 2 2007

NO. 2006-KA-00734-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Contraction of the CLERK

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY: DONNA S. SMITH ATTORNEY AT LAW BAR ID # POST OFFICE BOX 189 200 SIXTH STREET NORTH SUITE 605 COLUMBUS, MISSISSIPPI (662) 328-2284

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES VARDAMAN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2006-KA-00734-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING VARDAMAN'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM
- II. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON NOTE-TAKING IN A TIMELY FASHION
- III. THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING VARDAMAN AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER
- IV. VARDAMAN WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 4, 2004, James Vardaman, Julie Mason and Jerry Mullins left Crystal Springs, Mississippi, to go to Brandon to renew Vardaman's car license tag. After placing the renewal sticker on his car tag, Vardaman walked across the street to the Dollar General Store. While inside, he purchased pills which contained pseudoephedrine, a substance necessary to the manufacture of methamphetamine. [Tr. 183 – 186.]

The manager of Dollar General, Kathy Davis, was disturbed by the fact that Vardaman was purchasing more than 2 boxes of pills containing psuedoephedrine at the same time and called 911 to report this suspicious activity.<sup>1</sup> Her call was transferred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Davis testified that she had worked with Brandon narcotics office Martin Mann on several occasions and she always called 911 when a customer attempted to purchase more than 2 boxes of pills containing psuedoephedrine. She knew that it is illegal to purchase more than 2 boxes of these pills at the same time.

to narcotics agent Sergeant Martin Mann and she gave him information regarding the model and color of the automobile Vardaman was riding in and the direction in which it was traveling. In fact, Davis followed the car on foot for a short time. [Tr. 141 – 146.] Sergeant Mann immediately collected his partner, Matt Thornton, and together they drove to the area where the Dollar General store was located. [Tr. 59]

Mann and Thornton observed the gold Nissan at the Family Dollar Store and saw Vardaman leave the store. He was met by another passenger in the car (later identified as Jerry Mullins) and the officers saw what they believed to be a disagreement between the two. Vardaman and Mullins got into the car and it was driven off by a female later identified as Julie Mason. The officers kept the car under surveillance as it proceeded down Highway 80 toward Cross Gates Boulevard. [Tr. 59 – 61.]

The vehicle stopped at a BP gas station on Highway 80 at Cross Gates Boulevard and Mann observed Vardaman leave the car and throw a yellow bag into the trash can at the gas island closest to the highway.<sup>2</sup> At this point, the officers decided to have the car stopped for a traffic violation<sup>3</sup> and called for backup units to respond to the area. The car with Vardaman, Mason and Mullins inside was stopped at the Exxon gas station across Highway 80 from the BP station. Mann and Thornton followed them, with Mann driving, and assisted in the traffic stop. [Tr. 60 – 61.]

Mann and Thornton placed all three occupants of the vehicle in custody and searched the car, having first obtained permission from Mason for that search. [Tr. 62.] As they were searching the car, Mason told one of the officers that there were pills

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Thornton testified that he saw Vardaman deposit several individual items in the trashcan. He did not see him place a yellow plastic bag in the trash.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is no indication in the record why a traffic stop was conducted and no testimony was elicited to support that any traffic violation was committed.

secreted behind the ashtray in the dash of the car. [Tr. 62, 191 – 192.] Because Mann had observed Mason and Vardaman "hunched and leaned over" toward the dash, they concentrated their search there, eventually finding a small yellow bag which contained numerous pills Mann recognized as pseudoephedrine pills from his experience as a narcotics officer. [Tr. 62, 86 - 88, 131.]

Mann testified he watched the trash can the whole time, only looking away for five percent of the time, even though he drove to the suspects' location and assisted in the search and maintaining control of one of them. [Tr. 102, 128 - 130.] Once the suspects were placed in a transport vehicle, Mann then dashed back across the street and pulled a yellow plastic bag containing several empty pseudoephedrine blister packs from the nearly full trashcan, which was positioned between two gas pumps. He and Thornton then proceeded to the Brandon jail to assist in processing the suspects. [Tr. 102 - 103.]

When Mann and Thornton arrived at the police station, they got the suspects situated and Mann took the plastic bag containing the pills to the fingerprint table and counted them, finding that the bag contained 288 pseudoephedrine pills, although they had recovered only seven empty blister packs which held 24 pills each, or a total of 168 pills. [Tr. 77 - 78, 87 – 88] Mann told his partner how many pills they had confiscated, but never recorded the number of pills on any official police document. He then placed the bag containing the pills near the computer while he interviewed Mullins. [Tr. 79.]

Vardaman somehow obtained control over the bag with the pseudoephedrine pills in it. He asked to be allowed to go to the restroom and transport Officer Mark Miller escorted him to the restroom and left the door open so that he could observe him. Miller observed small white pills spilling from a yellow plastic bag in Vardaman's crotch area into the toilet and commanded him to stop his actions. Another officer, Dan Carter, heard his fellow officer's command and responded to the restroom, where he also observed pills falling into the toilet from Vardaman's crotch area. Carter and Miller struggled with Vardaman as he attempted to flush the toilet, eventually handcuffing him. Carter observed "a pile of white sitting at the bottom of the toilet; and, it was just – it was full." [Tr. 1 50 - 161.] One intact pill was recovered from Vardaman's person.

Subsequently Mason and Mullins gave statements to Mann and Thornton, who recorded their statements on video tape. Several days later, the officers interviewed Vardaman in jail. They thought they were recording the interview on tape, so they did not follow Brandon police department's standard operating procedure of obtaining a document signed by the defendant which acknowledged he had been advised of his Miranda rights and that he waived those rights. Vardaman wrote, in longhand, a statement in which he admitted that he had purchased two boxes of pseudoephedrine pills." However, his statement did not contain any admissions that he was going to use the pills to cook methamphetamine, although Mann testified that Vardaman told him that he and Mullins were going to "make a cook" in the next day or so and they had purchased the pseudoephedrine pills in order to cook methamphetamine. [Tr. 82 – 84.] During trial, both Mason and Mann testified that they had already been convicted on various charges related to their arrests on July 4, 2004 and that their reason for testifying was simply to get the truth out into the open. [Tr. 181, 194.] Mason testified that he had served time with Vardaman before and, after objection, the Court instructed the jury to ignore Mullins' testimony regarding serving time with Vardaman. [Tr. 164 –

165.] Mullins went on to testify that he had taught Vardaman how to cook methamphetamine and that Vardaman had recently told him that he wanted to do it again and needed his (Mullins') help. [Tr. 165 – 166.]

Mullins said that he and Vardaman each bought two boxes of pseudoephedrine pills at the Dollar General store. In response to the State's question whether Vardaman had instructed him specifically what to purchase in the Dollar General, Mullins stated that he "kinda knew what to get when he told me to get cold and allergy pills....Well, I knew what – what he wanted....Because of the prior – prior thing, me teaching him how to cook." [Tr. 171 – 172.] Mullins gave the two boxes he had purchased to Vardaman, and then Vardaman went into the Family Dollar store to get more pills. When Vardaman got back in the car he told them that he recognized some cops around them and instructed Mason to pull into a gas station so that he could get rid of the pills. Mason then pulled into a BP station on Highway 80 and Vardaman threw something into the trashcan there. [Tr. 173.]

Mason testified that she drove the car they were all riding in to the Dollar General and Family Dollar stores and that she realized the men were buying pseudoephedrine pills to cook into methamphetamine only after she saw Vardaman with some of the pill boxes. [Tr. 185 – 188.] As she drove away from Family Dollar, Vardaman told her that he saw an unmarked car he knew to be used by the police and started popping pills out of the blister packs into a yellow plastic bag. Mason demanded he get rid of the pills and pulled into a BP station to allow Vardaman to get rid of the pills. She thought he did. Shortly after this, they were stopped by the police and she offered information to them that Vardaman had been fooling with the radio prior to the car being stopped. [Tr.

190 – 192, 195.] On cross examination, Mason admitted perjuring herself either when she entered her guilty plea or during this trial. [Tr. 201 -202.]

Vardaman was convicted of unlawful possession of more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine pills and conspiracy to unlawfully manufacture methamphetamine.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Vardaman was wrongfully convicted of possession of more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine and conspiracy to unlawfully manufacture methamephetamine. The evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Vardaman was guilty of those crimes and the verdicts were against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The Court failed to timely instruct the jury as to the parameters of note-taking, thereby prejudicing Vardaman. There was insufficient evidence before the court to warrant sentencing Vardaman as an habitual offender and his sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for sentencing of the defendant as a non-habitual offender. Vardaman was represented by ineffective counsel.

# ARGUMENT

## 1. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING VARDAMAN'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM

Vardaman appropriately and timely moved the Court for a directed verdict and requested a preemptory instruction at the close of the state's case. [Tr. 205 – 206, R. 98.], thereby preserving this issue for appeal.

Miss.Code Ann. § 97-1-1 (Supp. 1993) provides that conspiracy is committed when two or more persons conspire to commit a crime or to accomplish any unlawful purpose. Each of the alleged conspirators *must* recognize that he is joining the other in a common plan and "[e]ach must intend to further a common and unlawful purpose." *Taylor v. State*, 536 So.2d 1326, 1328 (*Miss. 1988*). See, also, Watson v. State, 521 So.2d 1290, 1293 (*Miss. 1988*). A formal or express agreement is not required to prove a conspirators. *Thomas v. State*, 591 So.2d 837, 839 (*Miss. 1991*), *citing Clayton v. State*, 582 So.2d 1019, 1022 (*Miss.1991*); *Nixon v. State*, 533 So.2d 1078, 1092 (*Miss.1987*), *cert denied*, 490 U.S. 1102, 109 S.Ct. 2458, 104 L.Ed.2d 1012 (1989).

Here, the testimony of Mason and Mullins, the two alleged co-conspirators is unequivocal. There was no common plan formed by Vardaman in conjunction with either Mullins or Mason. Mullins testified that he was asleep in the back seat of the car when Vardaman went into Dollar General and got back into the car. At that time, Vardaman asked Mullins if he would go into the store and get "some." The colloquy between Mullins and the state regarding what Vardaman had requested him to purchase is as follows:

- Q. What happened, then, when he got back in the car?
- A. Then he asked me would I go in and get some in there; and, I went in and got some.
- Q. Some what?

- A. Two boxes, at Dollar General, cold and allergy pills.
- Q. You say he asked you to go in. Did he specifically to tell [sic] you what to get when you went inside?
- A. Well, I kinda knew what to get when he told me to get cold and allergy pills.
- Q. But was he the one to tell you. Did he specifically tell you exactly what he wanted?
- A. Well, I knew what what he wanted.
- Q. Why did you know what he wanted? How did you know what he wanted?
- A. Because of the prior prior thing, me teaching him how to cook.
- Q. So before you ever got out of the car to go inside the Dollar General Store, you knew what you were going to get and why you were going to get it.
- A. Right.
- Q. What did you go inside and do?
- A. To get two boxes of cold and allergy pills.

Only after Mullins came out of Dollar General did he learn that Vardaman had purchased pseudopehedrine pills at Family Dollar. [Tr. 168 – 172, R. Ex. 0021-0025]

Likewise, Mason testified that Mullins was in the restroom when Vardaman walked across the street from the Tax Assessor's office to Dollar General. Mason drove across the street, then Mullins got out and went into Dollar General. There was no conversation between him and Vardaman regarding why Mullins was going in at any time before he went into the store. After Mullins returned to the car with "Sudafed" pills, Vardaman then went into Family Dollar and Mullins and Mason commenced to argue.

- Q. Okay. And what were you and Jerry doing or Joey doing Jerry Joe doing while James Vardaman was in the car I mean, in the store.
- A. I was arguing with Joey; because I knew then what what was going on and I didn't like it....
- Q. Now, Julie -
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. -- if I go over to the Dollar General Store or to the Family Dollar Store and pick up a box of Sudafed, no big deal. Nobody's going to argue about it.
  Why are you harping on Jerry Joe about him picking up Sudafed.
- A. Because I knew what the pills were really for.
- Q. How did you know that?
- A. Because I'd known for a while that the pills were going to be used for manufacturing crystal meth.

Q. How did you know that?

A. Ever since I was fifteen years old, I was around cooks and stuff.....

Q. So when, on July the 6<sup>th</sup> you're at the Shell station –

A. Yes, sir.

Q. -- and James had gotten out of the car and walked down to the Dollar General Store –

A. Yes, sir.

Q. -- did you know why he walked down there?

A. Not at the time. But when he came out with the pills, I knew.

[Tr 185 – 190, R. Ex. 0026-0031.]

It is apparent from the testimony of both Mullins and Mason that neither of them knew that Vardaman was purchasing pseudoephedrine pills. It is also apparent that they had not discussed cooking methamphetamine that day. *A fortiori,* neither of them could have known that Vardaman intended to cook crystal methamphetamine with those pills. At best, both Vardaman and Mullins independently purchased a legal quality of pseudoephedrine pills and there was no common plan or agreement to manufacture methamphetamine with or from those pills. Given that no plan existed to cook methamphetamine, none of the three of them could have intended to further a <u>common</u> unlawful act. The only evidence of a conspiracy in this case is that Mullins, Mason and

Vardaman, all of whom had cooked methamphetamine before or been around cooks, rode together to Brandon and two of them purchased cold and allergy pills. Mullins did not even know that Vardaman had purchased pills until he had himself purchased pills. [Tr. 171.] Mullins and Vardaman never had a meeting of the minds that they were going to manufacture methamphetamine and therefore there can be no conspiracy. See, *Johnson v. State, 642 So.2d 924 (Miss.1994) and Franklin v. State, 676 So.2d 287 (1996).* Under the unique facts of this case, Vardaman submits that the Court must reverse his conviction for conspiracy to manufacture methamphetamine and discharge him on that count.

Likewise there is no proof that Vardaman purchased more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine pills. The unequivocal testimony in this case is that Vardaman was nervous when he went into the Dollar General store. Kathy Davis thought he had purchased three boxes of pills, but she was not the cashier who sold the pills to him. [Tr. 146.] Each box of pills marked with the Dollar General logo or trademark contained 24 pills. [Tr. 69 – 70, 131.] If Vardaman purchased three boxes of pill containing 24 pills each then the math is quite convincing. He purchased 72 pills at the Dollar General. Then Vardaman allegedly purchased more pills from Family Dollar but the record is silent as to how many dosage units he personally purchased there. Mullins also purchased two boxes of cold and allergy medicine – or 48 pills - from Dollar General, but his purchase was made without Vardaman's knowledge. [Tr. 171 - 172, 185.] Assuming that Detective Mann's unsupported figures for the number of pills confiscated – 288 pills – was correct, then Vardaman only purchased 240 dosage units

which is a legal amount of pseudoephedrine pills to purchase. *Miss. Code Ann.* §41-29-313(2)(c).

# II. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON NOTE-TAKING IN A TIMELY FASHION

Mississippi has authorized the use of notes by jurors under strictly limited circumstances in the discretion of the trial judge. *U.R.C.C.C.P. 3.14*. Where the trial judge allows the jury to take notes he must give both a preliminary instruction and an instruction at the close of the evidence on the appropriate use of those notes during deliberations. The language of the rule is mandatory:

Instructions. The court shall instruct the jury as to whether note taking will be permitted. If the court permits jurors to take written notes, the trial judge shall give both a preliminary instruction and an instruction at the close of all the evidence on the appropriate use of juror notes. U.R.C.C.C.P. 3.14(2)

In the case before the court, the learned trial judge failed to give the preliminary instruction mandated by the rule in a timely fashion. Immediately following *voir dire*, Judge Richardson inquired of the duly selected jury whether any of them wished to take notes. Finding that six (6) of them did, he told them that he would give instructions on the appropriate use of juror notes when they returned from the noon recess. [Tr. 55 – 56.] The jury returned after lunch and the trial began with the testimony of Martin Mann. No instruction was provided to the jury before testimony was elicited by the prosecution. After several minutes of direct examination by the state, Judge Richardson apparently realized his oversight and made the following statement and then instructed the jury as provided by *U.R. C.C.C.P. (2)(b)* 

Ladies and Gentlemen of the jury, while they're having their conference, this would be a good time for me to do this; because I neglected to give you instructions on note-taking before the examination began. No one's left the courtroom; witness is on the witness stand and there's been no break in the testimony. I'm putting that in for the benefit of the record....And I apologize for neglecting that earlier. [Tr. 66 – 67.]

"Preliminary' is defined as "something that precedes, prepares for or introduces the main matter, action or business" *American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, Fourth Edition (2000).* Webster defines preliminary as "that which precedes the main discourse, work, design, or business; something introductory or preparatory; as the preliminaries to a negotiation or duel. *Webster's Revised Unabridged Dictionary (1913).* 

This appears to be a case of the first impression in Mississippi. There have been several cases decided wherein the court approved the use of notes by the jury but none where the trial court, having decided to allow note-taking, failed to timely instruct the jury on the use of notes. See, e.g., Martin v. State, 872 So.2d 713 (Miss.2004) and Wharton v. State, 734 So.2d 985 (Miss. 1988.)

Had Judge Richardson given the mandated instruction in a timely manner – *i.e.*, before testimony began – more jurors may have elected to take notes as they would have known *ab initio* that they could not rely upon nor look at their fellow jurors' notes. The failure of the trial judge to give the mandated preliminary instruction in a timely fashion deprived the jurors of the opportunity to make informed decisions as to whether or not each of them desired to take notes.

#### III. THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING VARDAMAN AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER

James Vardaman was sentenced to life in prison without parole as an habitual offender pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann*.§99-19-83 (1972). That statute provides that:

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