IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES VARDAMAN

MAR 2 1 2007

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-0734-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Mr. Jerry Mullins testified that he had recently showed Vardaman how to manufacture methamphetamine. He agreed to go with Vardaman to Brandon to purchase cold pills, containing pseudoephedrine. Mullins knew that the intent of their various purchases was to manufacture or create more methamphetamine for their use.

- Q. Why did you know what he wanted? How did you know what he wanted?
- A. Because of the prior-prior thing, me teaching him how to cook.
- Q. So before you ever got out of the car to go inside the Dollar General Store, you knew what you were going to get and why you were going to get it.
- A. Right. R. 172. (Emphasis by Appellee).
- Q. What did he say?
- A. He said that his wife had gotten the car out and there was more pills in the dashboard.
- Q. He said there were pills that the police hadn't found?
- A. Right. R. 175.

There was corroborated eye witness testimony that Vardaman tried to destroy the evidence found in the Dollar General bag. R. 79;116; 153. He did so by smuggling the evidence bag of cold pills into the bathroom. He did this after worrying officers about his need to go to the bath room. He was observed pulling out the yellow bag and pouring the pills into the commode. He had to be taken down to the floor and restrained. This prevented him from flushing them down the toilet. However, there was corroborated eye witness testimony as to both what Vardaman did as well as seeing what was observed of the mass of dissolving cold pills in the commode.

Q. Was it clear then, to you, based on the defendant's behavior there in that

bathroom that it was his clear intent to flush that evidence down the toilet?

A. Absolutely. R. 80.

In **Burchfield v. State** 892 So.2d 191, *199 (Miss. 2004), the Court found that identification of pseudoephedrine on "the labels" of cold medication, such as Sudafed, fell within the exception to hearsay under M. R. E. 803(17), "market reports, commercial publications."

In that case Christopher Burchfield was found with unopened boxes of Walgreen cold tablets containing pseudoephedrine. Burchfield had some 864 dosage units. They were still contained in the "blister packs" inside the Walgreen's cold pill boxes.

¶32. We find the Iowa Supreme Court's "market list" analysis persuasive. Virtually everyone in society, from time to time, will select a box of pills from the shelf at a drug store based solely on the trustworthiness of the printed box. We trust that a box which says "Sudafed," is truly "Sudafed"-not "Benadryl." And we place the pills in our bodies, trusting that they contain the ingredients the labels claim. Therefore, this Court finds that these labels are relied upon by the public and falls within the "market list" hearsay exception.

¶ 33. Thus, we find the disclosure of ingredients on the labels of pre-packaged, unopened, over-the-counter medications may be admissible hearsay under M.R.E. 803(17), provided the trial court determines (as he did in this case) that the circumstances warrant admission. That is not to say that every label is admissible. The trial court will still evaluate the circumstances and, where reasonable suspicions are raised, such labels may be properly excluded. These matters are properly within the sound discretion of our learned trial judges.

In the instant cause, the record reflects that the cold pill boxes and blister packs of cold pills were opened by Vardaman prior to his apprehension. R. 67-68;82. The record also reflects, nevertheless, that the labels on the boxes and aluminum packs of pills admitted into evidence were clearly visible. They stated, as shown in the exhibits volume, that the cool pills packaged therein contained "pseudoephedrine." Pseudoephedrine is one of the precursor chemicals for manufacturing methamphetamine.

Likewise, Sergeant Mann's testified that he counted up to "288 pills" in the Dollar General

bag prior to Vardaman's destruction of this evidence. Mann also testified that the 287 pills that dissolved in water were exactly like the one cold pill containing pseudoephedrine found in the record. R. 65.

In McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993), the Court stated that when the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the prosecution was entitled to have the evidence in support of its case taken as true together with all reasonable inferences. Any issue related to credibility or the weight of the evidence was for the jury to decide, not this court.

The three challenges by McClain (motion for directed verdict, request for peremptory instruction, and motion for JNOV) challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence. Since each requires consideration of the evidence before the court when made, this Court properly reviews the ruling on the last occasion the challenge was made in the trial court. This occurred when the Circuit Court overruled McClain's motion for JNOV. Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 807-08 (Miss. 1987). In appeals from an overruled motion for JNOV, the sufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law is viewed and tested in a light most favorable to the State. Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992); Wetz at 808; Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986);...The credible evidence consistent with McClain's guilt must be accepted as true. Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974). The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. Wetz, at 808, Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985); May at 781. Matters regarding the weight and credibility of the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984);.. We are authorized to reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. Wetz at 808; Harveston at 370; Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985).

with reasonable inferences, there was more than sufficient, credible eye witness testimony and evidence in support of the trial court's denial of all peremptory instructions. Sergeant Mann testified that Vardaman had over 250 dosage units; he was sure of his count. R.67; 104. Officer Thornton corroborated Man as to the quantity being over 250 dosage units. R. 135. Mann testified that the boxes recovered from Vardaman listed the active ingredient in the cold pills as being

"pseudoephedrine." R. 68. Mann testified that the 288 pills in the bag looked alike and had come from the empty blister pack containers inside the various cold pill boxes. R. 67-68.

Vardaman admitted in his statement that he removed the cold pills from their boxes and blister packs and threw the empty boxes and packs into a garbage can at the BP gas station. R. 82. Vardaman also admitted to investigators that he intended to use the cold pills they were collecting to manufacture methamphetamine. R. 83;117. Co-defendant Mullins corroborated him in testifying that he knew why they were buying cold pills. i.e. to manufacture methamphetamine. R. 172. He also testified that Vardaman had admitted to having other pills the police did not find in the car. R. 175.

On a motion for a directed verdict, Vardaman was not entitled to give himself the benefit of any conflicts or gaps in the evidence that would be favorable to his innocence. In **Noe v. State**, 616 So. 2d 298, 302 (Miss. 1993), the Supreme Court stated that when the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the evidence favorable to the State must be accepted as true with all reasonable inferences. Evidence favorable to the defense must be disregarded.

Consequently, Vardaman's arguments about arithmetic and no evidence of a formal agreement to manufacture are wide of the mark.

In **Harris v. State**, 731 So. 2d 1125, *1132 (Miss.1999), the Supreme Court found that a conspiracy could be inferred from circumstances involved in a case. The conspiracy can be "inferred from the actions and conduct of the alleged conspirators," based upon evidence presented in the case to the jury. Evidence of the conspiracy can be "proved entirely by circumstantial evidence." Therefore, there is no burden on the prosecution to prove any formal agreement to a common plan to manufacture.

In Doby v. State, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988), the Court stated a conviction can be

supported by the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness:

With this reasoning in mind, the Court holds that the testimony of Conner was legally sufficient to support Doby's conviction for the sale of cocaine. This Court recognizes the rule that persons may be found guilty on the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness. See **Ragiand v. State**, 403 So. 2d 146 (Miss. 1981);..

The Appellee would submit that the jury resolved conflicts or gaps in the evidence along with issues of credibility when it found Vardaman guilty of possession as well as possession with intent. There was credible, partially corroborated evidence, as summarized above, in support of denying all peremptory instructions.

The Appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED AND THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED.

Vardaman believes that the trial court erred in not instructing the jury properly on the use of any notes taken by jurors during the trial. Since there was a delay between the beginning of the trial and the instruction provided, he believes this could have resulted in misuse of notes to his own detriment. Appellant's brief page 12-13.

The record reflects that this issue was not raised by Vardaman with the trial court. R. 56-66; C.P. 113-116.

In **Haddox v. State**, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994), the Court stated:

Because these arguments are not preserved for appeal, this Court cannot reverse based upon them. The assertion on appeal of grounds for an objection which was not the assertion at trial is not an issue properly preserved on appeal. **Baine v. State**, 606 So. 2d 1076 (Miss. 1992); **Willie v. State**, 585 So. 2d 660, 671 (Miss. 1991); **Crawford v. State**, 515 So. 2d 936,938(Miss. 1987);...

In addition, the record reflects that the trial court instructed the jury on note taking during the testimony of Officer Mann. R. 67. Mann was the prosecution's first witness and the transcript contains some nine pages of testimony prior to the instructions on note taking. This was prior to any testimony about either the number of pills found or admissions by Vardaman about his intent to manufacture with the assistance of Mullins. R. 58-67. The jury was also given written jury instruction C-5 on note taking prior to the beginning of their deliberations. C.P. 77.

Trial court:

Whether you take notes or not, each of you must form and express your own opinion as to the facts of this case. The individual juror's notes may be used by that juror only and may not be shown to or shared with other jurors. R. 67

In Bell v. State, 631 So. 2d 817, 820 (Miss. 1994), this Court stated that there is a

presumption that jurors follow the trial court's admonition.

This Court has held that it must be presumed that the jurors followed the court's admonition to disregard the unanticipated, unprovoked incident and decide the case solely upon the evidence presented; to presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable. See **Wright v. State**, 540 So. 2d 1, 4 (Miss. 1982); **Hunt v. State**, 538 So. 2d 422, 426 (Miss. 1989).

The Appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. IT IS ALSO LACKING IN MERIT. THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT VARDAMAN WAS PROPERLY DETERMINED TO BE AN HABITUAL OFFENDER.

Vardaman believes that the prosecution failed to prove that he was convicted of two felonies for crimes separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times. Appellant's brief page 14-16.

To the contrary, this issue was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court. The objection raised with the trial court was that the prison record's were not clear as the amount of time Vardaman served for his various felony convictions. He also raised the constitutionality of allowing an "assault of a police officer" to be used for enhancement purposes. R. 264. In his Motion for a JNOV, Vardaman raised the alleged error in allowing the indictment to be amended, and the alleged unconstitutionality of allowing enhancement under the facts of this case. C.P. 113-116.

The issue of showing the convictions were for charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents was therefore waived for failure to raise them with the trial court. **Haddox v.**State, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994)

In addition, the record reflects that this issue is lacking in merit. Mr. Ray for the prosecution pointed out for the record that Ms Taylor was the custodian of prison records. R. 249. In addition to her other documents, including courts sentencing orders, Ms Taylor had computer generated compilations of the time Vardaman served in penal instructions under the control of the MDOC. Therefore, the testimony of Ms. Taylor from MDOC was sufficient for showing that Vardaman served a year or more for his Lincoln County convictions, in addition to his Copiah County convictions which were also for over a year.

The Lincoln County charge was for "uttering forgery" in cause number 11-5-378 for which Vardaman served some fourteen months. The Copiah County charges were for assault of a police officer and possession of methamphetamine in cause number 2000–0082CR. Vardaman served over a year for both of these convictions. Assault of a police officer was a crime of violence.

Ms. Taylor testified that Vardaman serve a year or more in jail for Lincoln County forgery convictions and the Copiah County convictions for possession of meth and assault of a police officer. R. 255-256.

Mr. Ray for the prosecution pointed out for the record this fact:

She (Ms. Michele Taylor with the MDOC) is able to definitely tell you though, that the man served 2/13/98, 5/29 of '98 and from 10/10 of '98 to 8/20 of '99. But it really doesn't matter because he served—he was convicted there and he clearly served more than a year under the Copiah County conviction.

Based upon the testimony of Ms. Taylor, as summarized above by the prosecution, the trial court found that under M. R. E. §99-19-83, there was evidence for establishing that Vardaman was an habitual offender.

...But I count the Lincoln County sentence--it looks to me like it's about fourteen months is what was served, at a minimum. But regardless of that, Copiah County had a two count indictment. Different crimes arising out of different circumstances. Different sentences-one being a jury trial, one being a guilty plea--for a total of five years sentence.

That being the case, then you turn to look and make a determination as to whether or not those is a crime of violence. It being a simple assault on a law enforcement officer, it has to be a violent crime. Therefore, this court is of the opinion that the state has met its burden to prove that this defendant is a violent, habitual offender under the requirements of 99-19-83. They met all the requirements as to the one year or more than one year period of incarceration. R. 265-266.

In **Barnette v. State** 478 So.2d 800, *802 (Miss.1985), the court found that acts committed close in time to one another can constitute separate criminal charges.

We have repeatedly recognized that separate acts, though committed close in point of time to one another, may constitute separate criminal offenses. Lee v. State, 469 So.2d 1225, 1228-29 (Miss.1985); Dixon v. State, 465 So.2d 1092, 1096-97 (Miss.1985); Maycock v. Reed, 328 So.2d 349, 352 (Miss.1976). The separate convictions approved in those cases were far more closely related than in the case at bar.

In **Branch v. State**, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977), this Court state that '[t]here is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct." The burden is on the Appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this court.'

There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court. It is the appellant's duty to see that all matters necessary to his appeal, such as exhibits, witnesses testimony and so forth, are included in the record, and he may not complain of his own failure in that regard. The Court may only act on the record presented to it. Shelton v. Kindred, 279 So. 2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1972)

The Appellee would submit that this issue was waived; it is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION IV

VARDAMAN RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

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